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To my parents




PROLOGUE


CALCUTTA SUFFERS FROM AN UNBEARABLE SUMMER HUMIDITY that only its denizens can tolerate. But the summer of 2009 was harsher. A dreadful heatwave suffocated the city. This ominous weather nauseated, distracted and prevented Rajat from identifying the political tragedy about to hit Bengal.


Rajat and Bablu discussed the impending Lok Sabha election while sitting at their favourite thyek – Sudip’s Tea Stall. A murmur across the state suggested that people had decided to displace the Communist Party of India (Marxist) from power. The first major blow would be struck during the Lok Sabha election. The two men agreed there would be a loss in seats, but it was incredible to imagine that people would actually dislodge the Party from power.


Sudip reminded them to settle the bill. It was 9:30 at night. The hour had arrived for Sudip to shut shop, run to the nearest liquor store to spend a part of his daily earnings. Rajat and Bablu took off from the tea stall after telling Sudip they would pay the following day, as usual.


Once Rajat reached home, he wanted to take a shower and sleep after having spent a hectic evening campaigning at a slum for the CPI(M) in the run-up to the election.


He had delivered a stirring speech on the adverse effects of the Indo-US nuclear deal to rows of have-nots who sat on the ground. He debunked the evil designs of American imperialists as scores of blank faces stared at him. They were ever-ready to clap at intervals when other leaders on the red-coloured platform applauded. Slogans of ‘Inquilab Zindabad’ and ‘The blood of martyrs will never go in vain’ rang through the air.


This slum had voted en masse for the Party and formed muscle power for Rajat and his comrades. They were squatters from various suburbs and the Party helped them occupy the 200-square-feet huts in the colony without any valid documents. These people helped fulfil the quota given to the local arm of the Party during the annual Brigade Rally.


Rajat saw that Babu, the rickety local panwallah with tobacco-stained teeth, was in attendance while delivering his address. Rajat had a special bond with Babu, which helped him borrow cigarettes without paying. Babu attended every meeting and rally organized by the Party. ‘Your leaders won’t allow me to open my shop the next day if I don’t attend meetings.’ Babu would say to Rajat whenever he had the opportunity.


Wasting the whole day at the rally meant a loss of business for Babu. He had to pay off Mama, the local moneylender, every month. Mama had lent Babu a hefty sum at a high rate of interest to open his shop. Mama took more interest in Babu’s mother than his money. A double fear wrecked Babu’s mind on the days he showed up for party programmes because he would have to leave his mother at the shop, without protection from Mama’s prying eyes.


Babu had found a clever way out of this predicament during the annual Brigade Rally. He marched with party workers from Jadavpur to Rashbehari Crossing (where many other processions congregated, formed a long line and paraded onwards to Brigade Ground) and disappeared into the crowd. His actions benefited everyone. The Party counted him as attending and he disappeared after showing his face for the first hour of the rally.


Rajat’s mother interrupted his thoughts and called him to dinner. But he lacked the energy to listen to her as he wondered if people like Babu would vote for the CPI(M). He was rushing towards the washroom longing for healing drops of water to touch his jaded soul when his phone rang.


‘Hey, come to H block. Fast,’ Bablu said and disconnected. He sounded furious.


Bablu, a short, dark-skinned youth in his mid-twenties, was an ardent football fan and an active participant at most tea stall addas in Rajat’s neighbourhood. He was the quintessential angry young man with fire in his eyes that looked threatening.


Growing up, he had had frequent run-ins with his neighbours, never controlled his emotions and often meant trouble. Reports against Bablu caused serious displeasure to Party leaders frequently. But this trait, along with his dedication, made him the perfect choice for the action squad of the Party.


Rajat and Bablu often disagreed and had heated arguments when the discussion involved the legendary football clubs of East Bengal and Mohun Bagan. Bablu was an aggressive East Bengal supporter. Despite their differences, their discussions ended with a mutual ritual – they ended up drinking together.


Rajat left for H block in a hurry. It was a five-minute walk from his house.


‘You are going out again! Did you ask your father? Where are you off to?’ Rajat’s mother shouted at him.


‘I will be back in thirty minutes. It is urgent.’ Not wanting to waste any time, he rushed out.


As usual, the neighbourhood had retired for the day, barring a few alcoholics who were walking back towards their homes and were engaged in unintelligible banter with one another.


‘Is there any trouble in H block? Did you see Bablu out there?’ Rajat asked one of them.


‘No. Let’s have a drink. Let’s call Ram-da. He will deliver. We have to pay him ₹20 extra,’ Pocha-da, a neighbourhood alcoholic, said as he held Rajat’s hand.


‘We shall drink after the election. Not now. I’m in a hurry,’ Rajat said as he walked ahead.


Pocha-da worked as a daily-wage driver in the mornings. On the days he earned some money, he spent it on drinking in the evening. On the days he went without work he devoted his evenings to ugly fights with his wife. Pocha’s wife had complained to the local club and visited the Party office hoping they would take up the matter. Rajat was thinking of escalating this domestic issue in the Party meetings after the election.


Rajat’s mistimed sensitivity received a rude jolt when he crossed the deserted main road and entered H block. A few men were rushing into Briji, a notorious slum that backed the Party rival, the Trinamool Congress (TMC). Rajat stood a hundred metres behind them. Bablu gave them chase and, after running for about 200 metres he stopped. He didn’t have the grit to venture alone inside Briji. It was a criminal-infested slum which one was advised to avoid.


‘Madarchod! Wait till I see you again. I’ll teach you who I am. Listen, you motherfuckers, if you step into our neighbourhood we will break your legs,’ Bablu continued screaming till Rajat held his collar and pulled him back.


‘What the hell is happening? Where are the others? Who were they? Trinamool Congress?’ Rajat asked.


‘Yes. Come with me. Everyone is near Mohan Babu’s house.’ Bablu’s eyes were red. They ran back to the epicentre of the action.


Leaders of the Democratic Youth Federation of India (DYFI), the youth organization of the Party modelled on the Komsomol, were gathered in the lane. They had surrounded and cornered sixty-year-old Gautam Babu, the latest addition from the neighbourhood to the TMC.


Gautam Babu pleaded for mercy in this dark, desolate alley of Jadavpur. His merciless thrashing intensified when Bablu ran and landed a punch directly on his face. Gautam Babu started bleeding profusely.


They held him against the boundary wall of a one-storeyed house. His flogging took place right in front of the closed windows, one of those typical middle-class one-storeyed houses of south Calcutta colonies that dotted the lane. The concrete bore witness to the assault and the people inside their homes pretended not to notice and remained silent.


Unable to react, Rajat stood as a mute spectator. A bent-over Gautam Babu pleaded and cried as his right hand clutched the iron grille of the window, seeking support. His glasses lay shattered near his feet.


‘Ask for mercy,’ Bablu said as he held Gautam Babu by his shirt collar.


‘I will never come again,’ grovelled Gautam Babu with folded hands, missed a step, lost balance and saw his right leg plunge into the open drain.


‘Don’t fucking do all this drama, you sisterfucker. Don’t you dare campaign in Jadavpur,’ warned Bablu.


Rajat pulled Gautam Babu out of the drain and gave him a push, signalling he needed to be on his heels already. The old man gathered his tattered self and limped away. Within moments he melted into the darkness.


Jadavpur, an East Bengal settler colony, elected Chief Minister Buddhadeb Bhattacharjee for the first time in 1987, and since then he had never lost his seat. The Party had been winning here since 1967 due to the political protection it gave to the refugees coming from erstwhile East Pakistan. Rajat, Bablu and their comrades in the local committee fell under Ward 101 and 110 of the Kolkata Municipal Corporation, under the Jadavpur Assembly seat.


‘These motherfuckers were audacious enough to campaign in the area. Wish I could catch the others.’ Bablu lit up a Wills Flake as he spat the angry words out. Most of them lit cigarettes and headed towards the local Party office. It was an adrenaline overdose. Bablu, Bampi-da and Tukai-da had become a part of the mob over the years. For Rajat, it was a conflict between thrill and guilt. He refused to budge and hesitated to participate in the violence.


Gautam Babu’s action was pure blasphemy. Jadavpur was a Communist bastion. He had hoped the night would provide him cover but had been mistaken. The Party had a better network of informers than the local police station. Word about the campaign had reached the workers of the DYFI, contrary to his hopes. While his younger companions had run away, Gautam Babu’s old age had proved to be a disadvantage. His punishment took place 500 metres from the police station, but no one came to his rescue.


To be honest, Rajat and his comrades enjoyed this dazzle of unrestricted power. Three years ago, the Party had demolished its opposition, the TMC, and won 233 of the 294 seats in the West Bengal Assembly election.


‘We are the Party’s Dobermans,’ Bampi-da often said. But none of them could sniff out what was about to strike them in just a few more months. The mighty, invincible communists of Bengal would fall and would be forced to fight for their survival. They had committed mistakes, showed no repentance, dismissed every legitimate criticism as conspiracy and propaganda.


They claimed to be fighting for the poor, raising issues affecting the common man but, in reality, had manifested an authoritarian regime. The Party’s governance and ideology had become debased as they were overcome with hollow pride and caught up in a brutal show of power.


That night, Rajat considered himself to be a collaborator in this brutality. Most Party comrades like him found it charming to exercise absolute authority. They wanted to be heroes, reason be damned.
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FAULT LINES


IT WAS THE WINTER OF 2017 AND BOTH RAJAT AND NILOY WERE meeting after a decade in New Delhi.


Instrumental in helping Rajat climb aboard the Communist bandwagon, Niloy had been a Students’ Federation of India (SFI) leader at Presidency College and an active party worker in his locality, Sodepur, eighteen kilometres north of Calcutta in North 24 Parganas. Sodepur had earned its place in India’s history during the struggle for independence. Sodepur Ashram had been Gandhi’s satyagraha laboratory from 9 August to 14 August 1947, when riots engulfed the newly carved-out borders of India.


Niloy was an unimpressive person, neither handsome nor smart. Being from the district, he had lacked the finesse to influence city-bred Arts students at the college. Even in 2004, he remained oblivious to multiplexes and the shopping mall culture as these had not yet percolated into the hinterlands of Bengal.


Dark and pudgy with a thick moustache, he took the 9:24 a.m. local train to Sealdah station daily and then walked a kilometre to reach College Street. The students he wanted to reach out to for his political benefits took the metro to Central station and then a taxi.


Rajat’s batch had found Niloy to be repulsive and regressive when they had first met him in 2004. On the first day of college of Rajat’s batch, Niloy wanted to welcome his first years by offering a cup of tea, the cheapest item available at the canteen. His daring act of balancing a tray with eighteen teacups was marked by clumsiness and fraught with risk. The inevitable happened when he tried to put the huge tray on a table.


Niloy, in contrast to the city-bred students, would always dress in ill-fitting trousers and a loose shirt and carried an unbranded, black sling bag on his shoulder. But he approached students who wore Levi’s and Fabindia. Everyone in college saw in him the prototype of a dedicated party worker they had encountered in their localities.


Rajat and Niloy did not have much in common apart from their interest in college politics and sports. But Rajat appreciated his eager spirit.


As the president of the SFI unit in college, he hoped for a win under his leadership. But they never did, despite his machinations and genuine efforts. Every year for their annual fest revelry, he would plan a vivid carnival where heroes from the SFI would ride an elephant and enter the college campus after winning the election. But his grandiose ideas of celebrations after a win remained a daydream.


It had been almost ten years since Rajat had left college. Niloy now taught in a school, following in the footsteps of his uncle, who had raised him after his father passed away prematurely. His uncle was a respected schoolteacher and a CPI(M) leader in Sodepur. Rajat learnt that when Niloy’s uncle passed away in 2012, the man was left to fend for himself and his entire family.


Niloy was in Delhi for his annual vacation with his wife. They had already visited Lucknow, Agra, Mathura and Vrindavan, and the national capital was the final destination on their itinerary. They had booked train tickets for their return to Calcutta the following day and were staying at a hotel in Paharganj, near the New Delhi Station. Old ties made both Niloy and Rajat catch up at the eleventh hour.


Rajat had shifted to Delhi a couple of years ago. He had left behind the life of party politics and become a journalist. He led a new life, of professional aspirations, work pressure and family obligations. He missed his college life but not the politics associated with it. He listened to Niloy with the interest of a journalist. Niloy had become a story for him, more than a friend or comrade.


They met at a dimly lit bar near New Delhi Railway Station. Niloy’s appearance had changed after he got married. His thick moustache was missing. He wore a t-shirt and a pair of jeans.


‘So how is life as a teacher? Are you still associated with the Party?’


‘No, I stopped after the 2014 Lok Sabha polls.’


‘Why? Is it the Modi effect?’


‘You want to know what happened to me during the 2014 Lok Sabha polls? Then listen.’


Niloy sulked for a second. There was deep resentment in Niloy’s shaky voice as if he was swallowing his pride. The meaning of comrade had changed for him forever. His reaction made Rajat regret bringing up the topic.


‘I never shied away from my duties. The Party selected me as a booth agent because I know everyone in my locality right from my childhood. It is difficult for false voters to bypass me as I can identify who is not from our locality. But the 2014 election was my last as a booth agent,’ said Niloy.


Rajat could sense his anguish. Niloy’s bitter tone gave away the fact that he had become disenchanted, like many of their comrades.


‘Our Barrackpore Lok Sabha constituency voting took place in the last phase of the Lok Sabha election. I remember the day clearly. Our polling booth had no central forces. Only two constables of the state police were posted at the site. Still, there was no disturbance from 7 a.m. to 9 a.m. Soon after, TMC workers barged inside the booth brandishing pistols. They threatened our booth agents to leave. Believe me, no one protested; everyone just disappeared. Our party workers looked relieved as they ran. Look boss, if you are a communist you are courageous and you don’t bow to coercion,’ Niloy said.


‘We stood firm during the onslaught of the 1970s. But after staying in power for thirty-four years, our workers have lost their sheen. They are not communists anymore,’ he lamented.


The CPI(M) activists of his age had never seen a loss of power. They did not understand what it meant to be in a fix. Their friends and comrades had deserted them and defected to the TMC. Party leadership stayed in a slumber. Organizational bravado cowered at the sight of hundreds of new cadres who had joined the TMC.


This generation of party workers was born after the Party came to power in 1977. They had heard of pro-people political struggles, of the food movement of 1959 and 1966 when spontaneous protests had broken out in the city leading to street battles between the Left cadres and the police and the burning of public property. They had read and heard of the dark days between 1969 and 1975 when political murders of Left activists brought shame to the country. But that sense of power and pride had blinded the present generation of Party activists.


‘Seriously! What happened to you? Hope they didn’t harm you,’ Rajat said.


‘Can you believe I was the only CPI(M) agent in my booth who stood his ground? The TMC was hurling crude bombs outside the polling booth.’


Rajat understood that Niloy had lost his optimism that day because his ideology had failed him; his comrades had left him. No man willingly accepts physical humiliation.


Post 2011, the TMC accustomed CPI(M) activists to similar umiliation. Rajat, who had left Calcutta by then, never understood what his comrades faced. He heard a new story whenever he met someone, but for Niloy and those who stayed in the city, this was the new normal and an oft-repeated story.


Niloy wanted to settle the bill and return to his hotel, where his wife was waiting for them to have dinner together. But for Rajat, the story remained unfinished. After signalling for the bill, he immediately asked Niloy, ‘Tell me what happened after that?’ He was desperate to hear the end of the story.


‘I was surprised. What stopped them from dragging me out of the booth? And around 1 p.m., they came for me. Strange as it may sound, they did not manhandle me despite my audacity to stay back. They had a simple request: “Please leave; the last two hours are ours. You’re our master’s nephew, which is why we are being courteous to you.” I could not fight them. When I left, these local TMC guys even offered me biryani. I refused and went home embarrassed because of my party,’ said Niloy.


The mighty organization of the CPI(M) is the most effective on polling day. Decisions are taken fast, and comrades work in unity. This seamless process of defined duties results from the Party following the Leninist principle of democratic centralism to the core. Decisions taken at the top are binding on the cadres. Party workers take no action or decision without ratification.


So if there is a lack of instructions from the top, cadres tend to be in disarray. Leaders decide strategies the night before the elections, and sometimes on an ad hoc basis, depending on the situation on the polling day. Niloy’s situation indicated that the Party’s mechanism of managing the polls had crumbled.


Till the 2009 Lok Sabha election, the Party let no polling agent of the opposition sit beyond the first few hours of voting in the areas where it held sway. Post lunch, polling booths were void of opposition agents. Some stayed back, but they were compromised.


There is a big difference between the TMC and the CPI(M). The former is unorganized, and the latter is organized. The TMC is a one-woman show with no experience of a robust organizational structure and most of the cadres at the ground level are not ideologically bound to the party. TMC workers at the bottom rung do not implement but flout instructions from their chief, Mamata Banerjee. Everyone assumes leadership and tries to prove oneupmanship. As a consequence, polls during the TMC regime have been more violent and bloody.


Niloy had been lucky to have a renowned local schoolteacher as his uncle otherwise he could have been another martyr for the CPI(M).


Rajat suddenly remembered Gautam Babu. His friend told him that he was now a TMC leader at Jadavpur and had not yet taken his revenge. Would the CPI(M) be this generous if they returned to power?


As they left the bar, the two friends reminisced about their college days – how Niloy had chased Rajat right from the time of his admission and became his shadow. Niloy used to accompany Rajat everywhere – from the canteen to the Coffee House right across the street. He did not allow Rajat to go out of his sight, for the fear of political opponents poaching him. Rajat, on the other hand, felt stifled during those initial months of his college life. He was not free but chained to the grip of the SFI. Students of the opposition organization avoided talking to him and his batchmates took him to be a political animal than a normal first year who was interested in talking to them.


‘What made you pick me in college? Did any of our leaders ask you? Why was I the first SFI member in my batch?’


‘Why are you asking this question?’


‘I don’t know. Just felt like it,’ Rajat said. He wondered if he had been an easy target because he lacked the courage to say ‘no’.


‘I guessed you would be the face of your department,’ said Niloy after a moment.


‘It’s late. You need to go back and order dinner.’ Rajat ended the conversation.


Both of them walked in different directions after having made a promise of meeting again in Calcutta. As Rajat walked away, he realized that both of them had transformed from the exuberant party workers they had been a decade ago. Memories flooded his mind – how it had all started and how it came to an end. And how between then and now, he and thousands of youths like Niloy had ceased to be comrades.
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THE COMMUNIST WHO NEVER READ THE MANIFESTO


THE COMMUNIST MANIFESTO DESCRIBES THE RELATIONSHIP between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie, the Communists and the proletarians and the Communists and other parties.


Near Baghajatin, Rabindra Pally, Patuli, Garia and Jadavpur in south Calcutta, the Party had no use for The Communist Manifesto. Opposition parties had vanished from the area, party leaders had become the bourgeoisie, turned oppressor and stopped believing in communist ideals.


From the 1960s, Party had mobilized support through diverse forms of populism in this region in the southern fringe of the city. It seized this vast swathe of marshy land and turned it into refugee colonies in the 1970s for people uprooted from what was then East Pakistan, now Bangladesh.


The area expanded after the CPI(M) came to power in 1977. They resettled squatters from various parts of the 24 Parganas as unregularized tenants, along the Sealdah South railway lines. The needy from the adjoining districts of Calcutta also settled here under the Party’s backing.


These illegal squatter settlements and the middle-class colonies voted for the Party en bloc. This movement gave birth to undisputed CPI(M) leaders such as Kanti Ganguly, Ujjal Chatterjee, Swapan Roy and Khokon Ghosh Dastidar.


The Party remained a friend of the proletariat till the mid-1990s before they began pandering to industrial growth and urban development. Around 1996, the effects of liberalization were echoing across India. Foreign investments poured into the nation, there were new jobs and the relaxation of import norms ushered in a major lifestyle change in the growing aspirational class in the cities.


But even as the Soviet Union was disintegrating and the Indian economy was opening up, the CPI(M) remained faithful to Marxist theories, so foreign investments and privatization remained a pariah in the state. A purist leftist narrative, clubbed with militant trade unionism and an inherited crumbling economy made Bengal lag behind other states and the centre where the ruling political dispensation had opened its doors to foreign companies. As a consequence, international airlines like Aeroflot and British Airways left Bengal and started to use other cities as their base. The same happened when it came to Calcutta’s port – the volume of trade began falling. The Party’s stance resulted in economic stagnation with no new jobs and alienation of urban youths from the Party.


In the face of this political and economic challenge, the CPI(M)-led government, a staunch critic of the Union government’s free market policies, decided to undergo policy transitions. Seeking aid from global development banks for ‘urban development’ was not ideologically blasphemous for the party anymore.


The government had realized that it needed to change its economic policy to arrest the brain drain and flight of capital. It came out with a new industrial policy in 1994 but the outcome was far from positive. It took another five to ten years for the government to implement any changes in its economic policies.


The CPI(M) had no idea how this would come back to haunt them a decade later.


The state required land to build urban townships and its associated services for the burgeoning, aspirational middle class. New housing township came up in the eastern and southern fringes of cities like Rajarhat, New Town, Patuli and Maheshtala. The original victims of this urban, neoliberal trap were the illegal settlers from rural parts of Bengal, who had inhabited the region with Party support. Overnight, they became non-allottees and criminals who had to leave their homes.


Hawkers selling goods across the city of Calcutta faced the same fate under a programme called ‘Operation Sunshine’ in 1996.


Calcutta hosted millions of hawkers who occupied the pavements in the city – some even encroached on the roads to eke out their modest livelihoods. In the late 1960s, the Congress government wanted to evict hawkers but failed because of the staunch opposition from the Left. These hawkers had taken over the pavements at major junctions in Calcutta with the Party’s total support.


But, in a twist of fate, the CPI(M)-led Calcutta municipality decided to evict these hawkers without any proper rehabilitation plan. What followed was mayhem by workers of the Party along with the police in the stretches of Hatibagan and Gariahat to evict the poor hawkers.


‘I remember what we did. We broke the shops along Bidhan Sarani during the night. Some lumpen elements with us even looted these shops,’ would say a Party member from the Sovabazar area to Rajat much later, when he returned as a journalist.
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Rajat’s first real brush with the Party came in 1997, when he was twelve years old. He had seen posters in his neighbourhood saying comrades Subhas Chakraborty and Kanti Ganguly would address a public meeting in Patuli the next day, where they would explain the need to evict the same people whom they had allowed to settle along railway tracks.


At bus stops, inside autorickshaws, people discussed the impending violence that would hit the area when the mighty Party would clash with the hoodlums and settlers. When Rajat went out the following evening to play cricket with his friends, he met hordes of men walking back from the rally.


‘They are non-allottees, how could they occupy these LIG houses?’


‘There are no markets, health centres around here, they have occupied all lands. Why will anyone come here to stay?’


‘They are not obeying government orders. Imagine their audacity!’


‘Subhas Chakraborty and Kanti-da have given an ultimatum. If they leave now, the government will help. Otherwise, the police will have to go in.’


Rajat’s curious mind wanted to know more. He asked a friend who claimed that illegal Bangladeshis had occupied the land near the railway tracks. There were antisocials – dacoits, hooch dons, pickpockets – and the area had become notorious because of them. His friend had heard this from his father who was a member of the local citizens’ committee.


Rajat presumed this committee was a respected local organization driven by the seniors of the neighbourhood. But citizens’ committees were non-party organizations, floated and operated by the Party in Calcutta. Their main task was to draw people who did not want any direct involvement with the Party. They came in handy for launching propaganda against opponents and to extend patronage on the Party’s behalf, even if it meant becoming embroiled in family disputes.


The fear of losing homes led the non-allottees to seek political assistance from the Congress – which still had Mamata Banerjee to lead with protests for every alleged injustice committed in Bengal. With no place to go, they had to put up a fight to resist eviction. But the atmosphere had become volatile in the locality because of public speeches and propaganda through postering by the Party. The Party mobilized thousands who gathered to listen to the provocative speeches by the ministers. Many of them, outsiders, stayed back for the action that would begin soon.


The region became a battleground which the Party-backed middle-class population recognized as a war against criminals. In reality, the Party represented the haves and the lumpen, the have-nots.


Sometime in the winter night of 1997–98, a loud burst of country-made bombs filled the air during the night. The middle-class residents feared crossing the main road and going towards the railway lines. It became an area where criminals had taken up homes. The Party saw the need to save the middle-class residents.


The wait of a few weeks was over. Bulldozers and party cadres entered the slums. They razed the slums to the ground and pushed the proletariat to the margins of uncertainty. On that day, Rajat could see their local istiriwallah, taxi drivers and auto drivers, and even the uncle who worked as an LIC agent, holding fort at the road junction with iron rods, bamboo and wooden sticks. The action took place 500 metres from them where the Party’s action squads from the 24 Parganas joined hands with the police.


About six to seven years after this event, Rajat watched Ritwik Ghatak’s Subarnarekha at his college’s film festival organized by the SFI. The first few scenes of the film had an uncanny similarity to what he had witnessed in his little township years ago.


Subarnarekha showcases the struggle of refugees from East Pakistan who had come to Calcutta leaving behind their livelihoods, land and family. They occupied the land on the fringes of the city and tried to repair their broken lives with no help from the government. But the fear of attacks from the landowners’ muscle men hung like Damocles’ sword over them.


When a few of them try to establish a school in their neighbourhood and talk of the struggles that lay ahead of them, goons sent by the landowners raid the place and take a few of them away in a vehicle. A young, rickety boy runs after the vehicle crying and calling out for his mother, who is separated from him and is being taken away. All that is left behind are broken huts and shattered dreams.


While watching Subarnarekha, Rajat realized how the Party, once a vanguard of the dispossessed in the 1970s, had evolved and become the oppressor a few years into the future.


The Party’s supremacy was unquestionable. To retain power and authority, the new breed of cadres did not need to read The Communist Manifesto. Power allured them, not ideology. So Rajat sensed no need to read the manifesto either.
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Rajat had grown up in Jadavpur amid a flurry of red flags and graffiti of Marxist slogans. Hoarse orators screamed from podiums in the evenings, enlightening people about anti-government policies, American imperialism and the plight of Palestinians. Garlanded statues and pictures of Marx, Lenin and Stalin stood outside government offices, vegetable markets and bus stands.


The entire Jadavpur–Baghajatin–Ganguly Bagan–Garia–Patuli belt was an Orwellian society, where Rajat never ever met any TMC or Congress supporters. People alleged the Party made life difficult for supporters of the opposition by cutting off their water supply and getting involved in their domestic disputes.


This doesn’t mean the Party was only an oppressor. Their power dynamics could control and check common societal evils, which often helped the common people.


Rajat was born into a middle-class Bengali family. His father was a central government officer and his mother was a homemaker. In 1994, Rajat’s parents had been able to save money to build their dream home. While Mrs Lahiri spent her afternoons supervising the labourers at the site, Mr Lahiri took over in the evenings.


The frequent evening power cuts in Calcutta in the early 1990s made everyone long for pre-monsoon showers because of the intense humidity. During one such humid evening, Rajat overheard his parents speaking in the other room.


‘Around four to five young boys in motorbikes visited our construction site this afternoon. They threatened the contractor and ordered him to buy building materials from them. Otherwise, they would stop the construction,’ Mrs Lahiri complained.


‘What did you say?’


‘They spoke to the contractor. You need to do something. I stay there alone in the afternoon. Why don’t you talk to someone?’


‘Let me figure something out.’


The conversation ended with palpable tension.


Rajat accompanied his parents to the construction site the following Sunday. It was the day those men would meet his father to talk business.


He was sitting atop a wall worrying about a life without friends in the new neighbourhood when he noticed a frail, middle-aged man. He wore high-powered, thick spectacles, a half-sleeve checked shirt and a pair of cream-coloured trousers and spoke with his parents while holding onto his bicycle. Suddenly, Rajat heard the revving of motorbikes.


Four men, who seemed to be in their late twenties, were racing towards the house. They wore white shoes, collared t-shirts tucked inside loose fitting blue denims; red and gold threads and kada decorated their wrists.


Even before they spoke, the middle-aged man asked them who they were. The men claimed to be local building material suppliers from Rabindra Pally, a nearby colony known for its slums where regular disturbances took place. They said no construction work could proceed in the area unless people bought building materials from them.


The frail man interrupted them: ‘Listen. They will buy building materials from whomever they wish. If I see you people coming here and harassing them, then remember one thing: not only me but the Communist Party will also be your enemy.’


This man’s words acted as an antibiotic. The four men went away.


Rajat learnt much later that the man was Dibyendu-da, the local committee secretary of the Party. His dedication to the Party was rewarded well; he was a lab assistant at Dinabandhu Andrews College in Garia.


On that day, a friend of Rajat’s father, who was a Party sympathizer, had asked for help. The Party helped Rajat’s family but created an enemy out of those young men.


[image: image]


The Party and Calcutta became synonymous in the mid-1990s and early 2000s. It had entrenched itself in every nook and corner of the Bengali society and spread its tentacles inside each family and every home. This both benefited and harmed the people of the state in equal measures.


Rajat came to understand this with the dawn of the year 2005. Revellers in Park Street had returned to their homes after the New Year celebrations. Rajat and his college seniors had been waiting for a taxi to continue with their own festivities.


‘Every family in Bengal has one CPI(M) supporter and one CPI(M) hater. You can imagine our struggle,’ Gourab-da told Rajat. The words struck a chord with him. This was Rajat and his friends Aditya and Jojo’s first night of carousing with the senior SFI leaders. These leaders discussed whether the three of them deserved the hallowed Auxiliary Group membership of the Party. The objective behind this evening carouse was to introduce these young-blooded men to a senior student leader for further induction into the Party. They had met up with Gourab-da outside Olypub, the pocket-friendly watering hole on Park Street.


‘There is no space. There is a long line outside. Let’s buy a bottle, take two taxis, mix and drink inside the taxi. We will pay extra to the taxiwallah and ask him to go on driving till we finish our drinks,’ Gourab-da announced the moment he met his comrades from Presidency College.


The man was clean-shaven with curly hair and carried a trademark jhola. He wore a pair of grey trousers and a pink short-sleeved shirt. A pen peeked out of his breast pocket where it was tucked with a small notebook. Rajat, Aditya and Jojo were in t-shirts, jeans and sneakers. This man wore a pair of black sandals and smoked a bidi while Rajat carried a packet of Filter Wills. People would say that Gourab-da was twenty-five. Rajat believed he was thirty-five.


They spent the night drinking inside the taxi, treating themselves to bhelpuri and force-feeding the driver. The group had finally decided to retire for the night, but not before spilling a lot of biryani in the moving vehicle. They hired another taxi to drag them to the college hostel. A night out like this meant getting drunk till they were barely able to walk. So, hostels were safer sanctuaries as compared to their homes.


On their way back, Rajat pondered upon Gourab-da’s words. His thoughts went back to his own family. It could be said that they played no role in developing his leftist outlook. Mr Lahiri had no love for the Party. His primary objection to the Party stemmed from their role in India’s Independence movement, their politics during the Indo-China war of 1962 and the alleged subversion of Bengali culture and economy by nepotism and patronage.


The Communist Party of India had officially opposed the Quit India movement in 1942 at the behest of their ideological motherland Moscow, which was in an alliance with the British. During the 1962 Indo-China crisis, the party decided to call India the aggressor. It resulted in a split and the faction in support of China formed the present-day CPI(M) in 1964.


Rajat often nudged his father to tell him stories of Bengali politics, but Mr Lahiri was more interested in discussing Rabindranath Tagore, Swami Vivekananda and Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose. He once admitted that he had joined the All India Forward Bloc (AIFB), a party founded by Netaji, but distanced himself from the party as they inched closer to the CPI(M).


He spoke of meetings at the Coffee House during 1970–71 when the Khosla Commission was formed to investigate Netaji’s disappearance. He and his friends organized processions that asked the Union government to unmask the truth. Soon they realized that the AIFB was being co-opted by the CPI(M). He and many of his friends lost hope and stopped attending those meetings at the Coffee House.


On most days when Rajat badgered his father to tell him stories of the Naxalite period, his father obliged him with thrilling anecdotes of those turbulent times. One particular story unnerved Rajat the most. There used to be a regular adda on the terrace of their rented home in the early 1970s after Mr Lahiri and his friends returned from work. Their terrace was the place to unwind over cups of tea.


The police and the then ruling Congress party, under Siddhartha Shankar Ray, suspected most educated youths to be Naxalites. A congregation of youths during the evening were the perfect targets for an extrajudicial execution, or encounter, according to the police terminology.


One midnight, he heard the dreaded knock on their door. Outside, there were five to six cops and, behind them, around ten to twelve members of the Youth Congress. The police wanted Mr Lahiri to come with them. He said he was a central government officer and refused to go with them at night. He promised he would visit the police station the following morning.


The police officials backed out on hearing that he was a central government officer. But the Youth Congress workers said: ‘Take him tonight; you don’t have to worry about the central government. It will be taken care of.’ Meanwhile, Rajat’s grandmother had come down to stand with her son and face the crowd. After much parleying and judicious use of a family relation close to the Congress dispensation, Rajat’s father was let off that night.


Mr Lahiri always chuckled when Rajat discussed SFI politics after he had joined college. Mr Lahiri had plenty of diatribes in store: ‘Why don’t you ask your leaders why they worship Stalin? Was he less of a dictator than Hitler? Did he kill fewer people?’ Rajat’s father never encouraged him to join the communists and instead reprimanded him for being brainwashed.


Rajat did question his leaders often as a college student. But his queries were met with denial or were neglected. Since Rajat knew that further arguments would get him branded him as a reactionary, he did not probe the matter. In a monolithic party, questioning was a criminal offence.


‘Stalin made strong decisions for the greater good of Soviet Russia. Remember, Ivory Flawed but Ivory Still.’ The title of the book by Communist party leader and academic Hirendranath Mukherjee was the trademark answer which confirmed their beliefs and ended discussions.


Mrs Lahiri was an efficient homemaker who dealt with electricians, carpenters, plumbers, painters, the milkman and the domestic help daily. She had grown up in Jalpaiguri, a scenic, beautiful town in north Bengal and a traditional communist bastion.


Hundreds of tea gardens dot the Jalpaiguri district. The owners of these gardens lived in Jalpaiguri town surrounded by railway union, dolomite mines and plantation workers who lived on the outskirts and formed the backbone of the Communist movement.


Jalpaiguri district had witnessed the Tebhaga Movement, in 1946–47, which was a peasant-led rebellion. Sharecroppers and tribal peasants had come together to demand two-thirds of their produce, instead of half the produce they were given by the oppressive zamindars. The workers of the undivided Communist Party of India mobilized and organized these peasants. This germination of leftist ideology among the local sharecroppers helped the communist stalwart, Jyoti Basu, win the railway constituency during the Indian provincial election of 1946.


Mrs Lahiri would wake up early and proceed with her daily chores of cooking, instructing the domestic help to clean the house and bargaining with the fish and vegetable sellers. In between her chores, she criticized Rajat and his father for being lazy. This went on till noon. That is when she made herself a cup of tea, reclined on the sofa and read the Anandabazar Patrika, where news related to funny and controversial comments by Mamata Banerjee made her laugh. It was nice to see her rest and enjoy a bit of leisure after a whole morning of running around to keep up with the drudgery of ensuring her family’s well-being.


Though Rajat was not oblivious to the political changes around him, he remained largely insulated from politics while growing up. The 1990s was a decade when political violence crept into the city of Calcutta after a gap of over fifteen years. CPI(M) goon Lalu Alam hit Mamata Banerjee on the head with a rod, causing serious injuries; police shot thirteen Congress workers dead when they congregated near the Writers’ Building; and a brutally fought municipal election marked state politics. But through these years of innocence, Rajat only read the sports pages of newspapers and remembered the FIFA World Cup of 1990 and the Cricket World Cup of 1992.


For him the early 1990s meant Diego Maradona, Lothar Matthäus, Rudd Gullit, Jürgen Klinsmann and Martin Crowe. He spent the late nineties arguing with friends over who was the best – Zinedine Zidane or Ronaldo, Sourav Ganguly or Sachin Tendulkar. High voltage altercation and borderline fistfights ended these inconclusive arguments.


This vociferous interest in sports never translated into any good performance on the field for Rajat. He could never become like his heroes.


Growing up in a room piled with copies of Sportstar magazine and posters of Ivan Lendl, Boris Becker and Sachin Tendulkar adorning its walls did not mean Rajat had no fear of the Party. Rajat and his neighbourhood friends, who included drivers and caretakers at local apartments, made a formidable group in those days. They played cricket in an alley every evening. It was not a demarcated field so whenever someone walked in, they stopped the game.


During an evening when the game was at a crucial juncture, Farooq, a driver working at one of the local apartments, rushed in to bowl to Rajat who needed to hit a boundary. Out of nowhere, an old lady appeared behind the wicketkeeper. Farooq could not stop at the last moment. The ball went wide and both Rajat and the wicketkeeper missed it. The brand-new tennis ball skidded off the shiny street surface and hit the woman’s torso.


‘You idiots! You boys tried to kill me. Didn’t your parents teach you anything? Don’t you feel ashamed? This shows your upbringing,’ she screamed at them. She continued cursing when Farooq, nineteen years old, and the older boys tried to plead their case.


‘Madam, even Sachin Tendulkar and Wasim Akram played on the streets before becoming what they are. If they could, why can’t we?’ Farooq said. It enraged her.


‘Stupid boys! You tried to kill me. I will ensure that you can’t play this nasty cricket near my house.’ She walked ahead after casting a cold, piercing stare.


The game ceased and everyone congregated to chalk out a plan of action. They were worried that her threat may translate into strict action.


Farooq, who had caused and aggravated the problem, was an outsider. He would catch a local train in half an hour and go back to his home in Baruipur, a southern suburb fifteen kilometres away. But Rajat and the others trembled with fear. The old lady’s son, Chanchal, was a local leader of the CPI(M). His reputation preceded him. Everyone in Rajat’s group knew how he had threatened the local club members during the previous year’s Kali Puja inside the club premises because they had manhandled a party worker.


‘Don’t mess with the Communist Party. We can turn your club to rubble.’ His chilling threat had reverberated inside the club even though he stood alone facing forty boys from the local club. Rajat and his gang feared the club members, and they feared the Party. So now they were in deep trouble. Five of them, all of fourteen, fled the neighbourhood, planning not to return until the situation calmed down.


They walked to Garia Railway Station and waited at a tea stall till 7:30 p.m. before they realized the chances of their parents getting angry were higher than the Party’s interest in persecuting them. They went separate ways before entering their neighbourhood to avoid being seen together by anyone from the Party. Rajat retraced his way home at 8:00 p.m. and saw his mother standing at the balcony with anger written all over her face. He heaved a sigh of relief.


In the year 1998, Rajat found a hero in Zinedine Zidane. He spent most of his leisure hours arguing with his Brazil supporter friends, how Zidane – and not Ronaldo – was the best footballer in the world. In turn, he missed out on the churning that took place in Bengal politics.


Youth Congress President Mamata Banerjee, a firebrand politician, had rebelled against the Pradesh Congress unit. She accused the official state Congress leadership of having a deal with the CPI(M). Her ire was directed against Somen Mitra, a senior Pradesh Congress leader.


Somen Mitra was the secretary of Bengal’s Congress unit who had the backing of Barkat Ghani Khan Chowdhury, a Union minister during Indira Gandhi’s and Rajiv Gandhi’s years in power. Mitra was a product of the 1970s when political instability, murders, state oppression and violent youth politics engulfed the state. And Mamata Banerjee, the face of the opposition, had the blessings of Rajiv Gandhi.


Mitra, egged on by the then chief minister of the state Siddhartha Shankar Ray, established a group to tackle the Naxals. His house became a torture chamber where Congress workers brought in Naxalites across the city for a medieval form of justice. Mitra became known across Sealdah and Amherst Street for his brutality.


The reason for Mitra’s rise was not the political mobilization of Congress workers. His star rose because of his skill to mobilize mastans (goons) and engage with political opposition when his party was in power.


The deep factionalism in the Congress in the late 1980s and early 1990s between Mamata’s and Mitra’s groups gave rise to a high stakes battle. Mamata claimed that Mitra had become the CPI(M)’s B team, alluding to an understanding between the ruling party and the main opposition. She made it clear that she was the only honest, dedicated and transparent opposition to the CPI(M).


Mamata broke into Bengal’s political scene in the late 1970s, when Naxals were no more a threat and the Party had already come to power. She rose through the ranks through multiple pro-people agitations against the Party. She fielded attacks from Party cadres and was harassed by the state police and eventually became a street-fighting politician with a penchant for political theatrics.


She gained importance after defeating CPI(M) stalwart Somnath Chatterjee from the Jadavpur Lok Sabha seat in the 1984 elections. She was a rookie, compared to Somnath Chatterjee, a CPI(M) heavyweight. No one in the Congress risked fighting the Party from Jadavpur, the Leningrad of Calcutta. Critics credited her hard work for the win, and Indira Gandhi’s assassination right before the polls swayed major sympathy votes for her. The Congress won 16 seats in the state, their best performance since 1962, and they haven’t been able to better this tally since.


The rivalry culminated in the year 1997 when Mamata challenged Mitra to the polls for the post of the state’s Congress president. Mamata lost the election by a narrow margin after a last-moment defection by Priya Ranjan Dasmunsi and his aides in favour of the Mitra camp. Her attempts at dislodging Mitra did not go unpunished. He excluded her and her close aides from the Pradesh Congress Committee unit.


Mamata did not waste her time in Congress further and formed her own political party, the Trinamool Congress (TMC) in 1998. Mediation from Sonia Gandhi could not stop her. She reiterated that Somen Mitra and his cohorts were the B team of the CPI(M) and the Congress did not intend to fight them. She was proven correct on both these contentions.


Many journalists believed the same about the relationship between the state Congress and the CPI(M). Years later, Rajat’s journalistic pursuits led him to two reporters of two leading dailies in the 1990s who shared with him why they thought so.


‘I was present at Hatibagan throughout the night of Operation Sunshine in 1996. I expected state Congress leaders would oppose the move to displace the hawkers. But no one was there. I asked a state CPI(M) leader about this and he said, “We have managed all their leaders but the lady.” That same night I travelled to south Calcutta and saw Mamata Banerjee sitting on a dharna at the Deshapriya Park tramline with a few of her followers. She feared the Party would come for the hawkers in south Calcutta and wanted to protect them. Operation Sunshine took place much later in southern parts of Calcutta because of her opposition,’ said the chief reporter for a leading daily of the 1990s to Rajat.


The other confided, ‘One state leader of the CPI(M) from Burdwan quite openly shared with me how they had played a significant role in the Congress’ friction and eventual break in the party. It was as if their experiment had come true.’


In New Delhi, the Congress party became dependent on the CPI(M) to stall the expansion of the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) at the centre. Both parties tried to form a government after the fall of the H. D. Deve Gowda government in April 1997 and again in April 1999, when the Atal Bihari Vajpayee government fell. Congress leaders like Somen Mitra, Ghani Khan Chowdhury, Shankar Singh and Adhir Chowdhury remained kings of certain pockets in the state even when the CPI(M) gave no space to the opposition. It was allegedly an understanding between both the parties because of their dependence on each other at the centre.


The newly formed TMC, led by the only credible anti-CPI(M) politician in the state, brought in hope among the people. Everyone who was anti-CPI(M) and looked for a strong opposition to the Party, sided with the TMC. Lakhs of people congregated in Shyambazar on 1 January 1998 when the TMC organized its first rally. Many Congress leaders joined its leader on the stage. People understood that only the TMC could challenge the CPI(M)’s unbridled power.


Taking advantage of the disarrayed opposition and their leaders amid all this factionalism, the CPI(M) consolidated their organizational hegemony and the party leaders ridiculed both the warring sides. All this while, Rajat remained oblivious to politics and ensconced himself between the covers of A Tale of Two Cities and Great Expectations, watched the 9:00 p.m. films on Star Movies and collected posters of Zidane.
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THE ROAD TO REVOLUTION: GOLPARK, GARIAHAT AND COLLEGE STREET


GARIAHAT, THE HEART OF SOUTH CALCUTTA, IS AN OVERCROWDED intersection crawling with cars, buses, trams and pedestrians at all waking hours of the day. People used to throng to this buzzing marketplace and hub before malls sprouted all over the city. Hawkers and pedestrians would jostle for space and haggle over the mind-boggling range items on the sidewalks; young people would wait for friends in front of the Traders’ Assembly, a famous saree shop, or Anandamela, an electronics store. A dozen traffic policemen stationed at the Gariahat crossing controlled vehicles and the impatient crowd to prevent any reckless defiance of traffic signals. The junction turned out to be a favourite sit-in demonstration spot for the TMC because the area was its political oasis.
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